The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Gallagher-Bassett Services, Inc. THE GALLAGHER CENTER 2 Pierce Place Itasca, IL 60143-3141
- 2. Gary Lee Malone Richton, Mississippi
- Nabors Drilling, USA 3. Houston, Texas
- Michael A. Heilman, Esquire 4. Patricia J. Kennedy, Esquire Post Office Drawer 24417 Jackson, Mississippi 39225-4417 Counsel for Gallagher Bassett

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

A. STANDARD OF APPEAL

- 1. Was Gallagher Bassett's Handling of Malone's Claim Proper and Adequate?
- 2. The Exclusivity Clause of the Workers Compensation Act Bars
 This Claim and as Such This Matter Should be Reversed and
 Rendered
 - a. Only Proof of an Intentional Tort Can Give Rise to
 Avoidance of the Exclusivity Clause. Gallagher Bassett's
 Actions do not Rise to the Level of an Intentional Tort and
 Therefore the Plaintiff's Claims Fail as a Matter of Law
 - b. Has the Pronouncement in *Holland* Begun a Slippery Slope of Actions Which Could Potentially Undermine the Workers Compensation Act?
 - c. Malone Failed to Claim an Injury Which was Separate and Distinct from His Work Related Injury and as Such His Claims are Barred by the Exclusivity Provision of the Workers Compensation Act.
 - d. Even if Malone's Claims Were Not Barred by the Exclusivity Provision, Because Malone Failed to Reserve His Right to Pursue This Bad Faith Action and Because He has Already Accepted a Recovery on His Claim for Delay, His Claim is Barred.
- B. MALONE'S CLAIMS FAIL AS A MATTER OF LAW, AS GALLAGHER BASSETT WAS NOT THE PROXIMATE CAUSE OF ANY DAMAGES SUFFERED BY MALONE
- C. MALONE FAILED TO MITIGATE HIS DAMAGES AND AS SUCH GALLAGHER BASSETT CANNOT BE HELD LIABLE FOR THOSE DAMAGES
- D. EVEN IF MALONE COULD PREVAIL ON HIS CLAIMS THEY ARE BARRED BY THE ONE SATISFACTION RULE AND AS SUCH GALLAGHER BASSETT IS ENTITLED TO A SET OFF AS THE JURY AWARD FOR MALONE
- E. NABORS HAS NO RIGHT TO INDEMNITY FROM GALLAGHER BASSETT THEREFORE THE JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF NABORS SHOULD BE REVERSED AND REMANDED

- (1) Nabors' Active Participation in the Wrong Eliminates Their Action for Indemnity
- (2) The Damages Nabors Seeks to Recover from Gallagher Bassett Were Not Imposed Upon Them as a Result of a Legal Obligation to Malone and Therefore Nabors' Payments were Voluntary and Unreasonable

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

2.1 This appeal involves an adjuster liability case against an independent adjusting firm for its actions taken in adjusting a workers' compensation claim. The Plaintiff, Gary Lee Malone ("Malone" or "Plaintiff") filed this suit against his employer, Nabors Drilling, USA, Inc. ("Nabors" or "Co-Plaintiff") and Gallagher Bassett Services, Inc. ("Gallagher Bassett") alleging that his claim was handled in "bad faith" causing him damages on December 3, 2003 in Circuit Court of Jones County, Mississippi, R.E. Nabors also filed a cross-claim against Gallagher Bassett seeking indemnity for its damages arising out of Malone's bad faith claim on September 30, 2005. Prior to trial, Malone's workers' compensation claim which had been pending before the Commission was resolved, wherein Nabors agreed to pay all past due amounts, including penalties and interest, and a lump sum payment for Malone's future benefits with the exception of future medicals, which was left open. [R.E. 18 and R. E. 19]. Also prior to trial, Malone and Nabors entered into a Mary Carter Agreement settlement wherein Nabors agreed to pay Malone \$1.5 million for the bad faith actions of Gallagher Bassett; however, Nabors reserved the right to continue as an active participant and defendant at the trial of this matter and would further receive reimbursement from Malone for any recovery received from Gallagher Bassett. [R. E.

12]

¹ The citations will be in the following format: Trial Transcript citations will be "V" followed by the volume number; "T" followed by the transcript page number and line. Depositions which were read into the record at trial, will be identified as "D" followed by the deponent's name followed by citation to page and line. Records Excerpts will be cited as "R.E." followed by number.

- 2.2 This appeal arises from a jury trial in the Circuit Court of Jones County,
 Mississippi, wherein the jury awarded \$250,000.00 in actual damages to Malone after assessing
 that each party was partially liable for Malone's alleged damages. [R.E. 20]. By way of special
 interrogatory the jury found that Malone was 15% at fault for his own damages, that Nabors was
 42.5% at fault for Malone's damages, and likewise Gallagher Bassett was 42.5% at fault for
 Malone's damages. The jury further rendered a verdict in favor of Nabors and awarded
 \$1,250,000.00 in compensatory damages against Gallagher Bassett. [R.E. 21]. The Court
 declined to allow a punitive damage stage against Gallagher Bassett. V 7, T 1004-1005. The
 Court further polled the jury regarding the issues of punitive damages, wherein ten (10) of the
 (12) jurors responded that they would not have assessed punitive damages against Gallagher
 Bassett. V 7, T 999-1000.
- 2.3 Trial began in the instant case on August 21, 2006. On or about September 7, 2006, the jury returned a verdict against Gallagher Bassett as described above. During the course of trial, after the close of Malone's case and Nabor's case, Gallagher Bassett moved for a directed verdict which was denied by the trial court. After entry of judgment, Gallagher Bassett filed a Motion for JNOV and New Trial as to both Malone's claims and Nabors' claims as well as a Motion for Setoff. Each of these motions were denied. On April 11, 2007, Gallagher Bassett timely filed their Notice of Appeal. [R.E. 3]

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

3.1 The Plaintiff in this action filed a bad faith suit against Gallagher Bassett and Nabors alleging that by committing bad faith in the handling of his workers compensation claim, he suffered injuries and damages to include the amputation of hi right leg. The best way to begin this matter is to first look to the result of the jury trial along with the settlements and agreements entered into prior to the trial of this case. Prior to the trial, Malone's workers' compensation

claim which had been pending before the Commission, was resolved. Nabors agreed to pay all past due amounts, including penalties and interest, and a lump sum payment for Malone's future benefits with the exception of future medicals, which was left open. Also prior to trial, Malone and Nabors entered into a Mary Carter Agreement settlement wherein Nabors agreed to pay Malone \$1.5 million for the bad faith actions Gallagher Bassett however Nabors reserved the right to continue as an active participant and defendant at the trial of this matter and would further receive reimbursement from Malone for any recovery received from Gallagher Bassett. R.E. 12; V32; T 652 ln 4-23.

- 3.2 The jury awarded \$250,000.00 in actual damages to Malone after assessing that each party was partially at fault for Malone's alleged damages. [R.E. 21] By way of special interrogatory the jury found that Malone was 15% at fault for his own damages, that Nabors was 42.5% at fault for Malone's damages and likewise Gallagher Bassett was 42.5% at fault for Malone's damages. [R.E. 21] The jury further rendered a verdict in favor of Nabors and awarded \$1,250,000.00 in compensatory damages against Gallagher Bassett [R.E. 22]. The Court declined to allow a punitive damage stage against Gallagher Bassett. V 34; T 1006 ln 19-1007 ln 1; V 34; T 1007 ln 26-28, 1008 ln 1-10. The Court further polled the jury regarding the issues of punitive damages, wherein ten (10) of the (12) jurors responded that they would not have assessed punitive damages against Gallagher Bassett. Id. It is from this award that Gallagher Bassett is seeking relief.
- 3.3 This is a factually intensive case, with ample testimony and documentary evidence by all parties. The unusual thing in this case however, is that 90% or more of the facts are not in dispute. Malone was injured when he slipped and bumped his right leg on a beam while working on Nabor's Rig 295 in Jones County, Mississippi on July 28, 2000 wherein the skin broke and first aid was required, however no "medical treatment" was given. V 29: T 271

- $\ln 23$ T272 $\ln 22$. Malone went to his supervisor, toolpusher Wallace, and reported the injury, filled out an incident report, signed it, received first aid treatment from Wallace, and returned to work and continued to work the rest of his "hitch" which lasted three (3) more days. \underline{V} 29; \underline{T} T272 \underline{I} \underline{I} 122 \underline{T} 274 \underline{I} 1 19.
- an underlying skin/bone disease which was a chronic infectious condition called osteomyelitis. <u>V</u> 29: T 275 ln 2- T 277 ln 18. Malone's treating physician prescribed antibiotics and a follow up appointment. <u>Id</u>. At the follow up appointment Malone's bone was exposed in the wound and Malone was sent to a specialist immediately to assess the situation. <u>Id</u>. The specialist told Malone he would need skin graft surgery. <u>D</u>. <u>Melancon p 31 ln 13- 24</u>. Malone refused to proceed with the surgery immediately as suggested by his doctors because he first wanted to work an extended shift in order to save up money for the time he was going to be off to recover from the surgery. Id.
- 3.5 Malone testifies that he understood he needed surgery to address the open wound as soon as possible but that he was not told delaying the surgery was risking losing his leg, and in fact that if he had known that his leg was at risk he would not have delayed having the surgery for any reason. V 32, T 340 ln 23 T 340 ln 2; V 30; T 345 ln 24 28. It is this eight (8) week work schedule, which "delayed" Malone's surgery that Malone is contending "caused" his amputation. Malone asserts that if Gallagher Bassett had paid him workers compensation benefits, allowing him to proceed immediately with surgery without the necessity of saving up money, he would not have lost his leg. Regardless of the reason, the doctors knew Malone was going to work on an oil rig for two months straight and yet again did not prescribe any special medication or care instructions for the wound of exposed bone. D. Barbieri p 39 ln 9- p 40 ln 4.

- 3.6 Malone testifies that he went to Nabors corporate office in Laurel and talked to Holbrook, the district supervisor for Nabors to ask for this surgery and time off to be covered under workers' comp. V 29: T 280 ln 1-23. Malone had filed a workers' compensation claim in the past and received benefits, therefore he understood that he needed to inform his employer that he needed to file his claim based on his work place injury. Malone relates that he told Holbrook he would need surgery but that Holbrook scoffed at his request for workers compensation benefits and told Malone that he would not be allowed to file a workers compensation claim because his injury was related to his ongoing underlying medical condition and that Nabors was not going to pay for it. V 30: T 336 In 4- T 337 In 8. Malone further testifies that Holbrook specifically told him that they would all lose their bonuses which would be awarded pursuant to Nabors' safety award program if Malone made this claim therefore he was not going to allow Malone to file the claim. V 30: T 336 ln 4- T 337 ln 8. Holbrook denies that he refused to allow Malone to file a claim for workers compensation and instead testifies that Malone only requested a special work assignment of eight (8) weeks straight in order to take a long leave of absence after his surgery. V31; T595 ln 7-24.
- 3.7 It is undisputed that in order to obtain this special work assignment, approval was required from the corporate office of Nabors and while receiving this approval, Holbrook made clear that Malone's injuries were not work related. V31: T 596 ln9 T 597 ln 2.
- 3.8 Gallagher Bassett was the adjusting firm hired by Nabors' insurance carrier to handle Nabors' workers compensation claims. The dispute arises in this case based on the fact that on August 16, 2000 an adjuster for Gallagher Bassett called the toolpusher of Malone's rig, Wallace, to discuss Malone's injury, however Gallagher Bassett has no record of ever receiving the First Aid Only Report of Injury. R.E. 17. This conversation between the Gallagher Bassett adjuster and Wallace is recorded. Id. Wallace discusses with Gallagher Bassett the events

surrounding the First Aid Only Injury Report and confirms that the injury was minor and necessitated first aid only and had in fact "healed". R.E. 17; R.E. 14.

- 3.9 Nabors' corporate representatives testify that a First Aid Only Report of Injury should not have been sent to Gallagher Bassett as it is a First Aid Only Report and only claims which have medical or lost time are submitted to Gallagher Bassett to handle. V32; T 638 ln 14-19; V. 32; T 702 ln 19 26; V 32; T 706 ln 7-11; D. Poole pg 13; ln 6-13; V32; T 672 ln 10 19.
- that Malone was seeking to have surgery done on that same leg which was injured, however Wallace stated when asked, that he did not know if Malone was "going to" file a claim for workers' compensation, because Malone often had problems with this leg and therefore he was unsure whether the surgery was related to the injury or not. R.E. 17. Wallace told Gallagher Bassett that he had referred Malone to Holbrook, to discuss the matter. Id. Although Malone testified at trial that the reason, *he did not file* a workers comp claim, was due to his conversation with Holbrook wherein Holbrook denied Malone access to filing a claim, at trial both Malone and Nabors argued that the conversation between Gallagher Bassett and Holbrook constituted "sufficient knowledge" that Malone had a workers compensation claim and therefore Gallagher Bassett should have initiated a claim investigation. V 29; T 294 ln 1-14; V 30; T 344 ln 26 T 345 ln 9.
- 3.11 Nabors had a policy and procedure for changing First Aid Only Reports of Injury into Medical Claim Reports of Injury. D. Poole pg 35; ln 15-25. It is undisputed however, that Malone's First Aid Report of Injury was never changed into a medical injury report and in fact, Nabors has no proof that any report existed on their computer log or was ever sent to Gallagher Bassett regarding Malone until November of 2001. Id. Because Malone knew he would not receive workers compensation benefits claimed all of his ensuing medical care on his family

health insurance plan. Malone then underwent the surgeries and the extensive rehabilitation that followed and ultimately never resumed his job with Nabors. In January of 2001, Malone was terminated by Nabors for being unable to return to work due to a "nonwork related injury".

R.E.13. Malone then applied for social security benefits which he received.

- 3.12 Also, in January of 2001, however, Malone falls and breaks his leg which has just undergone surgery. [V. 29 Tr. 292, ln 17-19] This is a serious break requiring the placement of rods in Malone's leg that unfortunately become severely infected due to Malone's ongoing battle with osteomyelitis. <u>Id</u>. This infection eventually leads to the amputation of Malone's leg on August 19, 2002. [V 29; Tr. 303, ln. 1-2].
- 3.13 Prior to the loss of his leg, in November of 2001, Malone hires an attorney and contacts Nabors requesting once again that his injuries be covered under workers compensation. When, the Safety Coordinator, Jerry Poole, is contacted by Malone in November of 2001 he immediately sets up a First Report of Injury and sends it to Gallagher Bassett. D. Poole pg 27 ln 15 20. Upon receipt of the report, Gallagher Bassett sets up a claim and sends out a letter to Malone asking for his medical information and a Release. Id. Malone then turns this letter over to his attorney who then contacts the adjuster for Gallagher Bassett and requests that all communications on the claim be made directly through him as he is representing Malone. [V 33, T 841 ln 25]. A petition to controvert is filed by Malone's attorney however the requested medical information is not sent to Gallagher Bassett for over seven (7) months. Id.
- 3.14 Once the medical records are received and reviewed, however, Gallagher Bassett recommends that Nabors pay Malone's claim. In fact, Malone's claim was deemed compensable by Gallagher Bassett a mere 45 days after receipt of the claim and Malone's medical records in September of 2002. Nabors then accepts the claim and pays Malone in full for his past due

benefits to include penalties and interest. However, Malone has already at this point initiated the present lawsuit alleging that both Nabors and Gallagher Bassett handled his claim in "bad faith."

- 3.15 After an analysis of the facts in this matter, it is clear that Gallagher Bassett did all that could be done in August of 2000. There is no dispute that Nabors had no record that Malone was seeking to file a workers compensation claim prior to November of 2001. Malone himself even admits that he never filed a workers comp claim. Regardless of these facts however, both Malone and Nabors seek to hold Gallagher Bassett liable in this action for failing to adjust a claim that no one knew existed.
- 3.16 It is supported by the overwhelming evidence, which is largely undisputed in this matter, that Gallagher Bassett committed no wrong in the handling of Malone's claims, as there existed no "claim" until November of 2001. [V 32; T 677 ln 12 22; D. Poole pg 35 ln 15 25]. A review of the undisputed facts and law regarding these claims, resolves this issue resoundingly in favor of Gallagher Bassett and therefore this matter should be reversed and rendered.

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 4.1 This case arises from an underlying workers compensation claim of the Appellant, Gary Lee Malone ("Malone"). Co-Appellant, Nabors Drilling USA, Inc. ("Nabors") was the employer of Malone, while Gallagher Bassett Services, Inc. (Gallagher Bassett), the Appellee, was the adjuster contracted by Nabors' insurance carrier to handle the workers compensation claims assigned to them by Nabors. Malone contends that he had a workers' compensation claim as of August of 2000, however Gallagher Bassett and Nabors both contend they did not have notice of the claims until November of 2001. Malone's claim was ultimately found to be fully compensable and prior to trial, Malone received the benefits owed him.
- 4.2 Both Nabors and Malone, after reaching a Mary Carter settlement agreement prior to trial, assert that Gallagher Bassett had "sufficient notice" to know that Malone had a claim and that Gallagher Bassett should have conducted a full investigation into that claim in August of 2000. Malone further contends that the amputation of his right leg could have been avoided if Gallagher Basset would have conducted an adequate and proper investigation into his claim in August of 2000. Nabors filed a cross-claim against Gallagher Bassett, asserting bad faith breach of contract which sought indemnity from Gallagher Bassett for the settlement Nabors had entered into with Malone.
- 4.3 Malone and Nabors' claims file as a matter of law. Malone's claims are barred from being pursued in a tort action as these claims fall under the exclusivity provision of the Workers Compensation Act. Although this Court allows a tort action for bad faith outside of the exclusivity provision of the Act, if that bad faith rises to the level of an intentional tort which caused damages separate and distinct from those related to the work place injury, Malone has failed to plead or prove the elements necessary for a claim to overcome the exclusivity bar.

 Malone wholly fails to prove, even taking the evidence in the light most favorable to him, that

Gallagher Bassett committed even simple negligence much less bad faith that rises to the level of an intentional tort. At the end of this trial the jury assessed fault among all of the parties, to include the plaintiff evidencing a clear finding that no bad faith was committed by Gallagher Bassett. The Judge presiding in this case further found that punitive damages were not warranted and refused to allow a punitive stage of trial, which is a direct finding by the Judge that the actions of Gallagher Bassett did not rise to the level of misconduct necessary to establish bad faith much less an intentional tort. Further, from the first pleadings through trial, Malone sought only damages arising directly out of and flowing from his work related injury, therefore, Malone has failed to make a claim which can be pursued in tort outside of the Act because he has failed to even claim, much less prove, damages which were separate and distinct from the work related injury.

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