IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO.: 2007-CA-00585

GALLAGHER BASSETT SERVICES, INC.

APPELLANT

VERSUS

GARY LEE MALONE and  
NABORS DRILLING USA, INC.

APPELLEE

---

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Jones County, Mississippi, Second Judicial District  
Circuit Court No. 2003-230-CV12

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS APPELLANT**  
**NABORS DRILLING USA**

THOMAS J. SMITH (PHV)  
GALLOWAY, JOHNSON, TOMPKINS,  
BURR & SMITH  
1301 McKinney Street, Suite 1400  
Houston, Texas 77010  
Telephone: (713) 599-0700  
Facsimile: (713) 599-0777

RICHARD O. BURSON ( [REDACTED] )  
GHOLSON BURSON ENTREKIN & ORR, PA  
535 North Fifth Avenue  
P.O. Box 1289

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

### **III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Nabors first issue on appeal is that the trial court erred in denying Nabors' Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict to Enter Additur. Additur is appropriate when the award is "contrary to the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence." Miss.Code Ann. § 11-1-55 (Rev. 2002). The jury awarded Nabors the sum of \$1,250,000.00 based on its Cross-Claim against Gallagher Bassett. (R. 3611). However, Nabors set forth at trial that based on Gallagher Bassett's gross negligence and breach of contract in the adjusting of Malone's claim that it suffered damages in the total amount of \$2,702,729.66. (T.T. 358, 545, 547, 654-656). Gallagher Bassett did not deny or contradict the amount of the settlement, medical expenses, or legal costs incurred or to be incurred by Nabors. Consequently, since the jury found in favor of Nabors against Gallagher Bassett, it was against the great and uncontroverted weight of the evidence for it to award \$1,250,000.00 rather than the entire \$2,702,729.66.

Next, the trial court erred in overruling Nabors' objection to Gallagher Bassett's expert witness, Wayne Johnston's, trial testimony. Wayne Johnston was called to testify as an expert in the field of third party adjusting or also known as TPA. (T.T. 863-881). Johnston acknowledged that he had never been qualified as an expert in the field of insurance adjusting for the purposes of litigation before his testimony in this case. (T.T. 866-867). Furthermore, Johnston acknowledged that he had not reviewed Gallagher Bassett's practices and procedures (T.T. 868-869) and was not relying his opinions on any peer reviewed written articles or studies. (T.T. 869). Consequently, Johnston had nothing new to add to the testimony already before the court and his testimony was largely duplicative and based on unqualified assumption, speculation, and conjecture. The court's

allowing of this testimony was confusing to the jury and highly prejudicial against Nabors. This leads to the next issue that the judgments entered against Nabors in favor of Malone were against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

The jury found in Nabors' favor based on Nabors' Cross-Claim against Gallagher Bassett. In other words, the jury determined that Gallagher Bassett breached its contractual obligations to Nabors and grossly and negligently handled Malone's claim; yet, the jury found Nabors equally at fault with Gallagher Bassett assigning 42.5% of the fault to each party respectively. (R. 3613-3614). The jury's assignment of equal fault between Nabors and Gallagher Bassett goes against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and the finding that Gallagher Bassett operated in a grossly negligent manner in adjusting this claim. In other words, it is against common reasoning that the jury could find that Gallagher Bassett breached its contract in favor of Nabors and then find that Nabors is liable to Malone for bad faith.

Thirdly, the trial court erred in holding in abeyance until after the trial Nabors' Motion to Strike Cross-Action. (T.T. 913, ll. 13-25). By deferring judgment on Nabors' Motion to Strike Gallagher Bassett's Cross-Action, the trial court allowed testimony and evidence to go before the jury that was unnecessary, confusing and irrelevant. Consequently, it is likely that the jury was affected by testimony and evidence set forth by Gallagher Bassett against Nabors. Such testimony and evidence should have never been considered by the jury.

The trial court erred in denying Nabors' Motion in Limine to Exclude, or in the alternative Motion to Strike, Gallagher Bassett's Supplemental Responses to Nabors' and Robert Holbrook's Interrogatories. Gallagher Bassett, approximately thirty-two (32) days prior to trial, supplemented its discovery responses to Nabors' and Robert Holbrook's Interrogatories. Most significantly, Gallagher Bassett's discovery responses were in reality an effort to further

designate the subject matter of the proposed testimony of Wayne Johnson and Robert E. Underdown. This was done as an apparent effort to avoid Miss.R. Civ.P. 4.04 which provides in pertinent part: "Absent special circumstances the court will not allow testimony at trial of an expert witness who was not designated as an expert witness to all attorneys of record at least sixty days before trial." Furthermore, the proper designation of expert witnesses is governed under Miss. R. Civ. P. Rule 26(b)(4)(A)(i), which requires that, upon request from the opposing party, a party must disclose not only the name of his expert witnesses, but the party also must "state the subject matter on which the expert is expected to testify, and state the substance of the facts and opinions to which the expert is expected to testify and a summary of the grounds for each opinion." Read together, an expert must be appropriately designated as defined in Miss. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(4)(A)(i) sixty days before trial. Gallagher Bassett failed to properly designate its proposed expert and the trial court erred in allowing supplemental discovery responses to serve as a means to circumvent Miss.R. Civ.P. 26(b)(4)(A)(i) and Rule 4.04. Nabors was prejudiced because testimony was allowed at trial that should have been excluded because it was not properly and timely disclosed.

Lastly, the trial court erred when it denied Nabors' Motion for Directed Verdict against Gallagher Bassett's Cross-Claim. Nabors moved for directed verdict at the close of Malone's case (T.T. 571), at the close of its own case (T.T. 633), and at the close of Gallagher Bassett's case (T.T. 912). The circuit court improperly denied Nabors' motions for directed verdict and in doing so, allowed Gallagher Bassett to proceed with its case against Nabors. Had Nabors' motions for directed verdict been granted, the trial judge would have then ruled on Nabors' Motion to Strike Gallagher Bassett's Cross-Claim (which was eventually granted) at the time of the directed verdict and the jury would have never heard the testimony and evidence set forth against Nabors by Gallagher Bassett.

Gallagher Bassett, in its first issue on appeal, wrongly argues that it properly and adequately handled Malone's claim. Gallagher Bassett admittedly had notice of the claim in August of 2000, as Deborah Robichaux (Gallagher Bassett's employee) took the recorded statement of a Nabors' employee. (T.T. 281-283; 712-862 Trial Examination of Deborah Robichaux). Furthermore, Robichaux testified that she would not have taken the statement had the matter not been assigned to her for handling. (T.T. 712-862, Trial Examination of Deborah Robichaux). Consequently, Gallagher Bassett's failure to process this claim for over a year, which ultimately led to Malone losing his leg, was nothing short of grossly negligent and committed with complete disregard of Malone's rights and was in breach of Gallagher Bassett's contractual obligations to Nabors.

Gallagher Bassett also incorrectly sets forth that the Exclusivity Clause of the Workers' Compensation Act bars Malone's claim with regard to it. There is an exception to the Exclusivity Clause. More specifically, when a defendant is charged with the bad faith denial of workers' compensation benefits, the Exclusivity Clause is inapplicable. See *Mississippi Power & Light Co. v. Cook*, 832 So.2d 474 (Miss. 2002). Malone proved Gallagher Bassett was in bad faith in the handling of his claim and consequently, the Exclusivity Clause is inapplicable. Gallagher Bassett incorrectly sets forth in brief that Malone must allege an intentional tort. Rather, a third party administrator or adjuster may be found liable for its work in the adjustment of an insured's claim on the basis that the administrator or adjuster's actions are grossly negligent, malicious, or exhibit a reckless disregard for the rights of the insured. *Gallagher Bassett Services, Inc. v. Jeffcoat*, 887 So.2d 777, 784 (Miss. 2004) (citing *Bass v. California Life Insurance Co.*, 581 So.2d 1087 (Miss. 1991)). Therefore, Gallagher Bassett's argument fails and Malone's claims were proper.

Next, Gallagher Bassett erroneously argues that Malone's claims fail because Gallagher Bassett was not the proximate cause of Malone's damages. It was established that workers'

compensation benefits were denied and not investigated by Gallagher Bassett in August of 2000. The medical evidence established that the eight week delay in Malone receiving treatment for his leg because he had to continue working was the proximate cause of his amputation. Consequently, Malone sued Gallagher Bassett for damages arising from Gallagher Bassett's bad faith handling of his claim. It is clear that Gallagher Bassett was grossly negligent in the handling of the claim causing Malone and Nabors to suffer substantial damages.

Gallagher Bassett also wrongly argues that it is not liable due to the fact that Malone allegedly failed to mitigate his damages. This argument is seriously flawed. It is undisputed that Gallagher Bassett received notice of Malone's claim in August of 2000. (T.T. 235, 380, 780). Beyond taking the statement of one Nabors' employee, Gallagher Bassett did absolutely nothing else for over a year. (T.T. 817, ll. 19-22). Gallagher Bassett has failed to point towards what Malone should have or could have done to mitigate his damages. Gallagher Bassett failed to timely adjust Malone's claim, which failure caused Malone damages.

Malone's claims also are not barred by the "one satisfaction" rule, as Gallagher Bassett argues. Nabors settlement with Malone was not on behalf of Gallagher Bassett. That is quite to the contrary, there is nothing in the settlement agreement that states it was on behalf of Gallagher Bassett. (See G.B.R.E. 12; G.B.T.E. GB-2; N.R.E. 10). Consequently, Gallagher Bassett's argument regarding the "one satisfaction" rule must fail.

Nabors has a right to recover its damages from Gallagher Bassett. Gallagher Bassett breached its contract to perform the duties of a third party administrator on behalf of Nabors. More specifically, had Gallagher Bassett not handled Malone's claim with reckless disregard and in such a grossly negligent fashion, Nabors would not have incurred the cost and expense of defending

Malone's claims of bad faith. Therefore, Nabors recourse against Gallagher Bassett for damages sustained due to Gallagher Bassett's breach of contract is appropriate.

In this brief, Nabors deals first with its issues on appeal and subsequently answers Gallagher Bassett's arguments.

#### IV. LAW AND ARGUMENT

##### A. **The Trial Court Erred in Denying Nabors Drilling USA, L.P.'s Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict to Enter Additur.**

In post-trial pleadings, Nabors filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict to Enter an Additur. (R. 3727). The trial court subsequently denied that motion. (R. 3852). Under Mississippi law, an additur may be awarded if the court finds 1) that the jury or trier of fact was influenced by bias, prejudice, or passion, or 2) that the damages awarded were contrary to the overwhelming weight of credible evidence. Miss. Code. Ann. § 11-1 55; *Cade v. Walker*, 771 So. 2d 403 (Miss.App. 2000). Moreover, where an award is contrary to the weight of credible evidence, the trial court is permitted to enter an additur as is reasonable under the circumstances. *Bankers Life & Casualty Co. v. Crenshaw*, 483 So. 2d 254, 278 (Miss. 1985). In that regard, the court must accept the evidence which supports the verdict as true. *Nicolaou v. State*, 612 So. 2d 1080, 1083 (Miss. 1992). The standard of review upon which the denial of an additur must be reviewed by the appellate court is abuse of discretion. *Colville v. Davidson*, 934 So.2d 1028 (Miss.App. 2006).

Additurs should be set in an amount that when added to the original verdict, the verdict is no longer contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. *Odom v. Roberts*, 606 So. 2d 114 (Miss. 1992). Nabors' claims against Gallagher Bassett arise out of indemnity and breach of contract. To recover more than nominal damages, proof of actual damages resulting from a breach of contract must be established. *Anchor Coatings, Inc. v. Marine Industrial Residential*

*Insulation, Inc.*, 490 So. 2d 1210, 1219 (Miss. 1986). Further, an additur is appropriate where the jury fails to award actual proven damages that are not contradicted at trial. *Mississippi Transportation Commission v. SCI, Inc.*, 717 So. 2d 332, 339 (Miss. 1998). Where the evidence clearly shows an entitlement to damages, any verdict less than the proven amount is erroneous. *Kaiser Investments, Inc. v. Linn Agriprises, Inc.*, 538 So. 2d 409, 412-13 (Miss. 1989).

In *Kaiser*, the plaintiff and the defendant entered into a lease agreement whereby the plaintiff would provide a tract of farmland and crop financing for the defendant. *Id.* at 411. Prior to the 1982 and 1983 seasons, the plaintiff financed defendant's operation in the amount of \$253,000.00 and \$20,000.00. *Id.* The defendant, however, only repaid \$208,000.00. *Id.* The plaintiff then filed suit against defendant seeking the amount due on the promissory notes and interest and attorneys' fees totaling \$98,072.34. *Id.* at 412. After a trial on the merits, the jury awarded plaintiff \$45,000.00 and the plaintiff filed a motion for additur. *Id.* The trial court denied the motion for additur and the plaintiff appealed. *Id.* The Mississippi Supreme Court overturned the trial court's denial of additur and increased the plaintiff's damage award to \$98,072.34. *Id.* The undisputed evidence demonstrated that the defendant signed notes totaling \$253,000.00, of which \$208,000.00 was repaid. *Id.* at 413. The evidence further demonstrated that the plaintiff's interest and attorney's fees calculated according to the terms of the notes totaled \$53,072.34. *Id.* The court held that the plaintiff was entitled to judgment for the full amount of the unpaid balance, including all interest and attorney's fees, and that the jury should have been "peremptorily instructed accordingly." *Id.* at 413.

In the instant matter, Nabors filed a Cross-Claim against Gallagher Bassett alleging breach of contract. Specifically, Nabors alleged that Gallagher Bassett failed to adjust Malone's workers' compensation claim pursuant to the Claim Service Agreement, which resulted in

damages to Nabors. At trial, Nabors submitted undisputed evidence that it paid Malone \$1,500,000.00. (T.T. 358). The undisputed trial evidence also set forth that Nabors is responsible for Malone's future medicals and that those costs are \$828,595.00. (T.T. 545; 547; 655-656). Additionally, Nabors submitted, through the testimony of Laura Doerre, undisputed evidence that it incurred \$374,134.66 in attorney's fees in defense of the bad faith claim. (T.T. 664). Gallagher Bassett offered no evidence to refute this testimony.

Because the jury found in favor of Nabors against Gallagher Bassett, this court must accept the evidence which supports the jury's verdict as true. *Nicolaou*, 612 So. 2d at 1083. Specifically, the jury found that Gallagher Bassett breached its contract to adjust Malone's workers' compensation claim, causing Nabors to incur damages that had the claim been properly adjusted the damages would not have been incurred. Despite the fact that Nabors incurred damages in the amount of \$2,702,729.66, the jury awarded Nabors \$1,250,000.00 without explanation. As was the case in *Kaiser*, the jury committed error when it rendered a verdict less than the proven amount of damages incurred and ignored the overwhelming weight of the undisputed evidence.

Nabors is entitled to be placed in the position it would have been had Gallagher Bassett not breached the contract. Therefore, Nabors is entitled to an additur of \$1,452,729.66 for a total award of \$2,702,729.66. Consequently, Nabors requests that this court reverse the circuit court's decision and grant Nabors' judgment notwithstanding the verdict with regard to additur.

**B. The Trial Court Erred in Overruling Nabors' Objection to Gallagher Bassett's Tendered Expert Witness, Wayne Johnston's, trial testimony.**

The trial court erred in overruling Nabors' objection to Gallagher Bassett's expert witness, Wayne Johnston's, trial testimony. Wayne Johnston was called to testify as an expert in the field of third party adjusting or also known as TPA. (T.T. 863-881). Johnston acknowledged that he had

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